FLAGSTAFF DOWNTOWN BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AND REVITALIZATION DISTRICT OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA

RESOLUTION NO. 2014-10

A RESOLUTION OF THE DISTRICT BOARD OF THE FLAGSTAFF DOWNTOWN BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AND REVITALIZATION DISTRICT OF FLAGSTAFF REPEALING SECTION 1 OF RESOLUTION NO. 2014-01 AND ADOPTING SEPARATE RULES OF PROCEDURE AND RULES OF OPERATION

WHEREAS, on April 9, 2014, the District, adopted Resolution 2014-01 approving Rules of Procedure and Operation for the District Board; and

WHEREAS, the District desires to separate the Rules of Procedure from the Rules of Operation for the sake of clarity and adopt more fully developed Rules of Operation.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE DISTRICT BOARD OF THE FLAGSTAFF DOWNTOWN BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AND REVITALIZATION DISTRICT OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA as follows:

- 1. Section 1 of Resolution No. 2014-01, adopted April 9, 2014, is hereby repealed.
- 2. <u>Rules of Procedure.</u> Rules of Procedure in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A are hereby approved.
- 3. <u>Rules of Operation</u>. Rules of Operation in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B are hereby approved.

PASSED by the District Board of the Flagstaff Downtown Business Improvement and Revitalization District this 2nd day of September, 2014.

Chairman

ATTEST:

Clastit aprile
District Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

-Kjellgren & Speed, PLC

Attorney for the District//

ATTACHMENTS:

EXHIBIT A – Rules of Procedure EXHIBIT B – Rules of Operation

ATTACHMENT 'A'

RULES OF PROCEDURE of the FLAGSTAFF DOWNTOWN BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AND REVITALIZATION DISTRICT

Rule 1 GENERAL RULES REGARDING MEETING PROCEDURES

1.01 Rules of Procedure; Journal

The Board shall determine its own rules and orders of business, and shall provide for keeping a record of its proceedings. The record of proceedings shall be open to public inspection.

1.02 Written Rules, Order of Business, and Procedure

These Rules of Procedure of the Board shall be available to all interested citizens.

Rule 2 CODE OF CONDUCT AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

2.01 Code of Conduct

District Board members occupy positions of public trust. All actions and business transactions of such officials dealing in any manner with public funds shall be in compliance with all laws or ordinances establishing a code of conduct for public officials or pertaining to conflicts of interest of public officials or employees.

2.02 Participation and Voting Bar [A.R.S. §38-503]

Any Board member prohibited from participating or voting on any matter before the District by the state conflict of interest laws shall make known such conflict on the record of any meeting where the item is discussed, and shall not enter into discussion, debate, or vote on such matter.

Rule 3 BOARD MEETINGS

3.01 Regular Meetings

The District Board shall hold regular meetings on the first Tuesday of every month at 10:00 a.m. unless a majority of the Board decides to postpone or cancel such meeting. No change shall be made in regular meeting times or place without a published seven day notice.

If the day fixed for any regular meeting of the Board falls upon a day which the District observes as a legal holiday, the meeting may be cancelled or held at a time and date designated by the Board. All regular meetings of the Board shall be held in the Flagstaff City Hall Staff Conference Room. No change shall be made in regular meeting times without a published seven-day notice. However, the Chairman of the Board may change the Board meeting location to adjust to a specific need for additional space required to accommodate a large citizen turnout, upon giving the public notice of such change pursuant to notice requirements. All regular meetings of the Board shall be open to the public.

3.02 Special Meetings

Special meetings may be called by the Chairman of the Board. The Board may hold any other meetings it deems necessary at such times and locations as it determines appropriate under the circumstances for the purposes of addressing specific issues, strategic planning, budgeting, or for any other purpose allowed by law, so long as notice of such meeting has been given in accordance with the Arizona Open Meeting Law. The District Clerk shall prepare written notice of special sessions, stating time, place, and agenda; this notice shall be given personally, or by telephone or Internet, to each member of the Board, the District Manager, and the District's attorney, and shall be posted no later than twenty-four hours in advance of the special meeting.

3.03 Work Sessions and Agenda Review

Work sessions are public meetings held for the following purposes: (1) briefing Board members on items included on the Board's regular meeting agenda, (2) discussion of long range plans and programs for which no immediate action is required, (3) detailed discussion of matters which may soon be placed on a regular meeting agenda, and (4) exchange of information between the staff and Board. No formal vote shall be taken on any matter under discussion, nor shall any Board member enter into a commitment with another respecting a vote to be taken subsequently in a public meeting of the Board, providing that nothing herein shall prevent the Board from giving staff direction on any matter under discussion. Any formal action, however, must be scheduled for Board action at a regular or special Board meeting.

3.04 Executive Sessions [A.R.S. §38-431.03]

The Board may meet in, or recess into, executive session for all purposes allowed by law. Attendance at the executive session shall be limited to members of the District Board, the District Manager and District's attorney or their designees, and appropriate District staff or consultants to the District as the Board may invite or as may be required for advice or information. No formal vote involving final action shall be taken on any matter under discussion while in an executive session, except the Board may instruct its attorneys and representatives as allowed by law.

3.06 Minutes of Meeting [A.R.S. §38-431.01]

Except as otherwise provided by state law, there shall be minutes of all Board meetings. Such minutes shall include, but need not be limited to: (1) the date, time, and place of the meeting; (2) the members of the District Board recorded as either present or absent; (3) a general description of the matters considered; (4) an accurate description of all legal

actions proposed, discussed, or taken, and the names of members who propose each motion; and (5) the name of persons, as given, making statements or presenting material to the Board and a reference to the legal action about which they made statements or presented material. Minutes of all meetings, except executive sessions, shall be open to public inspection.

Rule 4 THE BOARD AGENDA

4.01 Procedures for Preparation of Board Agendas

All reports, communications, ordinances and resolutions, contracts or other documents, or other matters to be submitted to the Board as part of the Board meeting agenda packet shall be available to the Board by the Friday preceding the meeting.

The agenda shall be made public in advance of the meeting by posting on the regular public posting board at City Hall and on the District's website. Such action shall be taken concurrently with the furnishing of the agenda to the District Board.

Rule 5 ORDER OF BUSINESS

5.01 Regular Meeting Agenda

The agenda for regular meetings of the District Board shall follow the following order:

Call to Order
Roll Call
Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings
Public Participation
Specific Items for Consideration
Possible Future Agenda Items

Informational Items and Reports to/from Board and Staff, and Requests for Future Agenda Items

Adjournment

Rule 6 PRESIDING OFFICER

6.01 Chairman as Chair

The Chairman, or in his or her absence, the Vice Chairman, shall be the Chair for all meetings of the Board.

6.02 Temporary Chair

In case of the absence of the Chairman and the Vice Chairman, the District Clerk shall call the Board to order. If a quorum is found to be present, the Board shall proceed to elect, by a majority of those present, a Chair for the meeting.

Rule 7 MEETING DECORUM AND ORDER

7.01 Decorum and Order among Board members

The Chair shall preserve decorum and decide all questions of order, subject to appeal to the Board. During Board meetings, Board members shall preserve order and decorum and shall not delay or interrupt the proceedings or refuse to obey the order of the Chair or the Rules of the Board. Every Board member desiring to speak shall address the Chair, and upon recognition by the Chair, shall confine himself or herself to the question under debate and shall avoid all personal attacks and indecorous language. A Board member once recognized shall not be interrupted while speaking unless called to order by the Chair or unless a point of order is raised by another Board member. If a Board member is called to order while he or she is speaking, he or she shall cease speaking immediately until the question of order is determined. If ruled to be out of order, he or she shall remain silent or shall alter his or her remarks so as to comply with the Rules of the Board. Board members shall confine their questions to the particular issues before the Board. If the Chair fails to act, any member may move to require him or her to enforce the Rules and the affirmative vote of the majority of the Board shall require the Chair to act.

7.02 Decorum and Order among District Staff

The Chair shall have the authority to preserve decorum in meetings as far as the audience, staff members, and District employees are concerned. Any remarks by staff members and District employees shall be addressed to the Chair and to any or all members of the Board.

7.03 Decorum and Order among Citizen Participants

Citizens attending Board meetings shall also observe the same rules of propriety, decorum, and good conduct applicable to members of the Board. Any person making personal, impertinent, and slanderous remarks, or who becomes boisterous while addressing the Board during a Board meeting, may be removed from the room if so directed by the Chair, and such person shall be barred from further audience before the Board. Unauthorized remarks from the audience, stamping of feet, whistles, yells, and similar demonstrations shall not be permitted by the Chair. Should the Chair fail to act, any member of the Board may move to require the Chair to enforce the Rules, and the affirmative vote of the majority of the Board shall require the Chair to act. Political campaigning is prohibited. Any member of the public desiring to address the Board on any item may, and on any public hearing item shall be recognized by the Chair pursuant to Rule 9, shall state his or her name and city of residence in an audible tone for the record, and shall limit his or her remarks to the questions under discussion. Any remarks shall be addressed to the Chair and to any or all members of the Board.

Citizens are allowed to address the Board a maximum of three times throughout the meeting, including comments made during Public Participation. Other than Public Participation, comments shall be limited to the business at hand. If the Chair recognizes a speaker, the Chair shall limit the period of speaking to a reasonable period of time of no more than three minutes per person, at the discretion of the Chair and a speaker may address the Board with the speaker's own statements, and the statements of other

persons within the three minute period, but that shall be the speaker's only opportunity to address the Board on that issue.

Rule 8 RIGHT OF APPEAL FROM THE CHAIR

8.01 Process for Appeal

Any Board member may appeal to the Board from a ruling of the Chair. If the appeal is seconded, the member making the appeal may briefly state his or her reason for the same, and the Chair may briefly explain the Chair's ruling. There shall be no debate on the appeal, and no other member shall participate in the discussion. The Chair shall then put the question, "Shall the decision of the Chair be sustained?" If a majority of the members present vote "aye", the ruling of the Chair is sustained; otherwise, it is overruled.

Rule 9 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN BOARD DISCUSSIONS

9.01 Non-Public Hearing Discussions

The Chair need not accept public discussion on a non-public hearing item. If the Chair recognizes a speaker, the Chair shall limit the period of speaking to a reasonable period of time of no more than three minutes per person, at the discretion of the Chair and a speaker may address the Board with the speaker's own statements, and the statements of other persons within the three minute period, but that shall be the speaker's only opportunity to address the Board on that issue. The person desiring to speak shall limit his or her remarks to the matter under discussion and shall address his or her remarks to the Chair. At the discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.

9.02 Public Hearings

- A. In the case of a public hearing, the Chair shall announce prior to such hearing the total time limit, if any, to be allowed for public debate, depending upon the circumstances and public attendance. The Chair shall also announce the time limits for each individual speaker (normally no more than three minutes), and that no speaker may be heard more than once.
- B. At the discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak.
- C. Speakers may not cede any portion of their allotted time to another speaker.
- D. The order of presentation and time limits shall be as follows:
 - 1. Staff presentation (ten minute time limit, except with specific Board permission to exceed this limit).

- 2. Applicant presentation, only upon applicant's specific request (up to ten minutes, except with specific Board permission to exceed this limit).
- 3. Board's questions to staff and applicant.
- 4. Public comment (three minutes for individual speakers, up to fifteen minutes for a representative of ten or more persons present at the meeting who have contributed their time to the representative),
- 5. Applicant's response, only upon applicant's specific request (5 minutes),
- 6. Staff's response (5 minutes),
- 7. Board deliberation and questions to staff and applicant.
- E. This rule will not preclude questions from members of the Board to the speaker where it is deemed necessary for purposes of clarification or understanding, but not for purposes of debate or argument.

Rule 10 RULES GOVERNING MOTIONS BY THE BOARD

10.01 Motion to be Stated by the Chair - Withdrawal

When a motion is made and seconded, it shall be so stated by the Chair before debate commences. A motion may not be withdrawn by the mover without the consent of the member seconding it.

10.02 Motion to Suspend Rules

Suspension of these Rules requires majority consent of the Board members present. A motion to suspend may not be made while another motion is pending unless it directly applies to the pending motion.

10.03 Motion to Change Order of Agenda

The Chair may, at his or her discretion, or shall, upon the majority vote of Board members present, change the order of the agenda. However, caution should be given to not changing the order to circumvent the Open Meeting Law.

10.04 Motion to Table

A motion to table is used to delay discussion on an item until later in the meeting or until the next meeting. Neither the motion to table nor other business can be discussed, until a vote has been taken on the motion. If the motion is successful, no further discussion can be had without a motion to take off the table. To take a motion off the table at the same or immediately succeeding meeting, a motion and second must be made to take the item off the table, and it must pass by majority vote.

If not revived by the adjournment of the immediately succeeding meeting, the matter is considered to be dead.

10:05 Motion to Postpone

A motion to postpone is in order when an item is rescheduled to a time certain, when it is delayed with conditions, or when the matter is intended to be disposed of without action. If the motion prevails, the item shall return for Board action at the meeting specified or in accordance with the conditions established in the postponement. A motion to postpone may be debated prior to vote, but no other motion, including a motion to amend, may be offered until the vote is taken and only if the motion to postpone fails.

A motion to postpone indefinitely, if it receives a majority vote, effectively extinguishes an item.

10.06 Motion to Divide the Question

If the question contains two or more divisionable propositions, the Chair may, and upon request of a member shall, divide the same.

10.07 Motion to Amend

On a motion to amend or "strike out and insert", the motion shall be made so that the intent of the amendment is clear to the Board and public, and for the record.

The Board may materially amend an ordinance after the first read of that ordinance and proceed immediately to the second read and adoption. In other words, it is not necessary to proceed as though it is a new ordinance after a material change.

10.08 Motion to Amend an Amendment

A motion to amend an amendment shall be in order, but one to amend an amendment to an amendment shall not be introduced. An amendment modifying the intention of a motion shall be in order, but an amendment relating to a different matter shall not be in order.

10.09 Motion to Reconsider

After the decision on any question, any member who voted with the majority may move for a reconsideration of any action at the same meeting or at the next regular meeting that occurs at least one week after the date the action was taken. In the event of a tie vote on a motion, any Board member may move for reconsideration at the next regular meeting of the District Board that occurs at least one week after the date the action was taken, but not thereafter. To ensure that the matter will be included on the posted agenda in conformance with the Open Meeting Law, any Board member who wishes to have a decision reconsidered must alert the District Clerk in writing at least five (5) days, exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays, and intermediate holidays, prior to the meeting at which the motion to reconsider will be made, unless the motion to reconsider was made and seconded at a Board meeting. A motion to reconsider shall require the affirmative vote of the majority of the members present at the time of reconsideration. After a motion for reconsideration has once been acted on, no other motion for reconsideration of the same subject shall be made without unanimous consent of all Board members.

10.10 Motion for Roll Call Vote

Any Board member may request a roll call vote, or the Chair may ask for a roll call vote for purposes of clarifying a vote for the record. The roll may be called for yeas and nays upon any questions before the Board. Unless allowed by the Chair, it shall be out of order for members to explain their vote during the roll call, or to engage in additional debate or discussion on the subject after the vote is taken.

Rule 11 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS REGARDING MEETING PROCEDURES

11.01 Prior Approval by Administrative Staff

Except as to matters requested by individual Board members under the Possible Future Agenda Items Section of the agenda, all ordinances, resolutions and contract documents shall, before presentation to the Board, have been approved as to form and legality by the District's attorney, and shall have been examined for practicality by the District Manager or his or her authorized representative.

11.02 Placement of Items on Agendas for Board Action

Pursuant to Board direction received during any Board meeting, the District Manager may present ordinances, resolutions, and other matters or subjects to the Board, and any Board member may assume sponsorship thereof by moving that such ordinances, resolutions, matters or subjects be adopted. In addition, ordinances, resolutions and other matters or subjects requiring action by the Board may be introduced and sponsored by a member of the Board through the Possible Future Agenda Items process described in Rule 4.01, or by contacting the District Clerk one week prior to the meeting.

11.04 Amendments to Rules of Procedure

New rules of procedure may be adopted, or these Rules may be repealed or amended, in conformance with applicable provisions of the Arizona Revised Statutes at any meeting of the District Board called for that purpose, by a vote of the majority of the Directors.

11.05 Robert's Rules

Robert's Rules of Order, latest edition, shall serve as a guideline for interpretation of and supplementation for these Rules in all cases to which they are applicable, provided they are not in conflict with these Rules or the laws of the State of Arizona. The interpretation of these Rules and Robert's Rules shall be guided by the principles underlying Parliamentary law, that is, a careful balance of the rights of individuals and minority subgroups of the Board with the will of the majority. In no case shall the strict application of a rule or procedure be interpreted to deny any individual or minority the right to participate in a debate, discussion, or vote, nor shall these rules be interpreted in such a way so as to defeat the will of the majority of the whole of the Board.

EXHIBIT 'B'

RULES OF OPERATION of the FLAGSTAFF DOWNTOWN BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AND REVITALIZATION DISTRICT

Table of Contents

1.	GE	NERAL PROVISIONS	12
2.	ΡU	RPOSE	12
3.	PO	WERS OF THE DISTRICT	12
4.	во	ARD OF DIRECTORS	13
5.	OF	FICERS	14
6.	ELI	ECTIONS; ELIGIBLE VOTERS	14
7.	CO	MMITTEES	15
8.	СО	NTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS AND FUNDS	15
8	.1	Authority to Execute Documents	15
8	.2	Procurement.	15
8	.3	Authorized Signatories on the District's Bank Accounts.	16
8	.4	Finances.	16
8	.5	Budget.	16
_	.6	District audits and financial reviews	
9.	MIS	SCELLANEOUS	16
9	.1	Records.	16
9	.2	Annual Reports.	17
. 9	.3	Submittal of Annual Report to Board of Supervisors.	17
9	.4	Exemption from Annual Reporting Requirement.	
9	.5	Immunity from Civil Liability	17
9	.6	Perpetual Succession	18
_	.7	Dissolution of the District	
10.	AM	IENDMENTS	19
11	CO	NSTRUCTION AND DEFINITIONS	19

1. GENERAL PROVISIONS

The District is a special purpose District for purposes of article IX, section 19, Constitution of Arizona, a tax levying public improvement District for the purposes of article XIII, section 7, Constitution of Arizona, and a municipal corporation for all purposes of A.R.S. Title 35, Chapter 3, Articles 3, 3.1, 3.2, 4 and 5. Except as otherwise provided in this section, the District is considered to be a municipal corporation and political subdivision of this state, separate and apart from the City of Flagstaff. Notwithstanding any other law, the District does not have the power of eminent domain and does not have the power to enact zoning ordinances. (A.R.S. § 48-6807(B)).

2. PURPOSE

The District Board shall administer the implementation of the General Plan for the infrastructure of the District. (A.R.S. § 48-6807(C)).

3. POWERS OF THE DISTRICT

- 3.1 To further the implementation of the General Plan, the District may:
 - 3.1.1 Enter into contracts and spend monies for any infrastructure purpose with respect to the District.
 - 3.1.2 Enter into intergovernmental agreements as prescribed in A.R.S § 11-952 for the financing, planning, design, inspection, ownership, control, maintenance, operation or repair of infrastructure or the provision of enhanced municipal services by the municipality in the District, including an intergovernmental agreement with an Indian tribe or community.
 - 3.1.3 Sell, lease or otherwise dispose of District property if the sale, lease or conveyance is not a violation of the terms of any contract or bond resolution of the District.
 - 3.1.4 Reimburse the City of Flagstaff for providing enhanced municipal services in the District.
 - 3.1.5 Operate, maintain and repair infrastructure.
 - 3.1.6 Establish, charge and collect user fees, rates or charges for the use of any infrastructure or service.
 - 3.1.7 Employ staff, counsel and consultants.
 - 3.1.8 Reimburse the City of Flagstaff for staff and consultant services and support facilities supplied by the municipality.
 - 3.1.9 Accept gifts or grants and incur and repay loans for any infrastructure purpose.

- 3.1.10 Enter into agreements with landowners and the City of Flagstaff for the collection of fees and charges from landowners for infrastructure purposes, the advance of monies by landowners for infrastructure purposes or the granting of real property by the landowner for infrastructure purposes.
- 3.1.11 After approval at an election held pursuant to A.R.S. § 48-6818, levy and assess the costs of any infrastructure purpose on any land benefited in the District.
- 3.1.12 Pay the financial, legal and administrative costs of the District.
- 3.1.13 Enter into contracts, agreements and trust indentures to obtain credit enhancement or liquidity support for its bonds and process the issuance, registration, transfer and payment of its bonds and the disbursement and investment of proceeds of the bonds.
- 3.1.14 With the consent of the City of Flagstaff, enter into agreements with persons outside of the District to provide services to persons and property outside of the District.
- 3.1.15 With the consent of the City of Flagstaff, use public easements and rights-of-way in or across public property, roadways, highways, streets or other thoroughfares and other public easements and rights-of-way, whether in or out of the geographical limits of the District or the City of Flagstaff.
- 3:2 In connection with any power authorized by statute, the District may:
 - 3.2.1 Contract.
 - 3.2.2 Enter into intergovernmental agreements pursuant to A.R.S. Title 11, Chapter 7, Article 3.
 - 3.2.3 Adopt and change a seal.
 - 3.2.4 Sue and be sued.
 - 3.2.5. Enter into development agreements, as defined in section A.R.S. § 9-500.05.

(A.R.S. § 48-6808.)

4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 4.1 The District shall be governed by an initial District board appointed by the City of Flagstaff. The City shall appoint three (3) persons to serve on the initial board of directors. The three directors shall own real property in the District. (ARS § 48-6802.)
- 4.2 The initial board of directors shall serve a term of one (1) year. Subsequent members of the board of directors shall be real property owners in the District who shall be elected at large by the real property owners in the District as shown on the property tax assessment roll who are qualified to vote pursuant to A.R.S. § 48-6818. Subsequent members of the board of directors shall serve a term of four years. (ARS § 48-6802.) After the initial board of directors' one-year term, the board shall be increased to five (5) members elected pursuant to A.R.S. § 48-6818.

- 4.3 If a vacancy occurs on the District board because of death, resignation or inability of the director to discharge the duties of director, the vacancy shall be filled by appointment made by the Flagstaff City Council. A director appointed by the Flagstaff City Council shall hold office for the remainder of the unexpired term until the member's successor is elected as provided by A.R.S. § 48-6818. A director shall not be an elected official of the municipality or Indian tribe or community or an employee or agent of the municipality or Indian tribe or community but may be a director of more than one District. (A.R.S. § 48-6810(B).)
- 4.4 <u>Error! Bookmark not defined.</u>The board of directors shall comply with A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 3, Article 3.1 as a separate political subdivision. (ARS § 48-6810(C).)

5. OFFICERS

The District Clerk and District Treasurer shall be the Clerk of the City of Flagstaff and the Treasurer of the City of Flagstaff, respectively, unless the District board appoints a District Clerk and District Treasurer. (ARS § 48-6810.)

6. ELECTIONS; ELIGIBLE VOTERS

- 6.1 Any election permitted under A.R.S. Title 48, Chapter 39, Article 1, shall be a nonpartisan election called by posting notices in three public places within the boundaries of the District not less than twenty (20) days before the election. Any election may be conducted as a mail ballot election in the manner prescribed in A.R.S. Title 16, Chapter 4, Article 8.1 as nearly as practicable. If the election notice is not mailed to the property owners and, if applicable, to the qualified electors, the notice shall also be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Flagstaff. If there is no newspaper so circulated in the City of Flagstaff, publication shall be in a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the municipality is located once a week for two consecutive weeks before the election. The notice shall meet the requirements of A.R.S. § 48-6818(A).
- 6.2 The District board shall determine the date of the election and, if applicable, the polling places for the election and may consolidate precincts. The Clerk of the District board shall prepare a list of eligible voters in the election. A prospective landowner voter shall execute an affidavit stating that the voter is the owner of land in the District and is qualified to vote pursuant to this section and stating the parcel number owned by the voter. Election board members may administer oaths or take all affirmations for these purposes. An election held pursuant to this article is not subject to A.R.S. Title 16, Chapter 2, Article 3.
- 6.3 Only the owners of real property in the District are eligible to vote in an election regarding an assessment to be levied against the real property in the District, in an election for the board of directors of the District and in an election for dissolution.
 - 6.3.1 Corporations, partnerships and other business entities are eligible to vote as property owners, but only one vote may be cast for each one-seventh of an acre of real property in the District, except that any fraction of ownership of real property that is less than one-seventh of an acre entitles the owner to cast one vote.
- 6.4 A majority of the acreage as represented by the votes cast at an election conducted solely under the acreage system shall determine the result. An acreage system election shall be conducted pursuant to the procedures prescribed in sections A.R.S. § 48-3042 through 48-3051 as nearly as practicable.

- 6.5 Except as otherwise provided by A.R.S. Title 48, Chapter 39, Article 1, the election shall comply with the general election laws of this state, except that the words to appear on the ballots shall be for an assessment levy election, "assessment, yes" and "assessment, no". The returns of election shall be made to the District board.
- Within fourteen (14) days after an election, the District board shall meet and canvass the returns. The canvass may be continued from time to time.
 - 6.6.1 In the case of an ad valorem tax election, if a majority of the votes cast by qualified electors at the election is in favor and the majority of acreage as represented by the votes cast at the election is in favor of imposing the tax, the District board shall enter that fact on its minutes.
 - 6.6.2 In the case of a landowner election only, the result of the measure shall be determined by a majority of the acreage represented by the votes cast at an election, and the District board shall enter that fact on its minutes.
- 6.7 Failure of a majority to vote in favor of the matter submitted does not prejudice the submission of the same or similar matters at a later election.
- 6.8 If a person listed on the assessment roll is no longer the owner of land in the District and the name of the successor owner becomes known and is verified by recorded deed or other similar evidence of transfer of ownership, the successor owner is deemed to be the owner for the purposes of A.R.S. Title 48, Chapter 39, Article 1.

(ARS § 48-6818.)

7. COMMITTEES

The District Board may appoint such committees from time to time as it deems appropriate.

- 8. CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS AND FUNDS
- 8.1 **Authority to Execute Documents**. Except as otherwise provided by resolution of the District Board, all agreements and other documents to which the District is a party shall be executed on behalf of the District by the Chairman or the Vice Chairman of the District Board.
- 8.2 **Procurement.**
 - 8.2.1 Procurement Limits. Procurement limits for the District will be as follows:
 - 8.2.1.1 \$0 \$5,000: Board or Executive Director can select vendor directly;
 - 8.2.1.2 \$5,001 \$25,000: Board must obtain three written quotes, if possible;
 - 8.2.1.3 \$25,001 \$100,000 Board must undertake a formal procurement process under State procurement statutes. (Resolution 2014-04.)
 - 8.2.2 Approve Bank for District Accounts. Since annual banking charges are estimated to be well below \$5,000 per year, the Chairman of the Board is authorized to

select a banking institution within the boundaries of the District on behalf of the Board. (Resolution 2014-04.)

- 8.3 **Authorized Signatories on the District's Bank Accounts**. The authorized signatories for the District shall be those persons designated by resolution of the Board.
- 8.4 **Finances.** The projects to be constructed or acquired as shown in the General Plan may be financed from the sources of revenue authorized by A.R.S. § 48-6812.
- 8.5 **Budget**. On or before July 15 each year, the District Treasurer shall prepare a proposed budget for the ensuing fiscal year to be submitted to the District board for approval. The board shall indicate its approval of the budget by resolution, which shall provide for a hearing on the budget as approved. The Flagstaff City Council may review the proposed annual budget and may submit written comments to the board for its assistance and information in adopting its annual budget. At the conclusion of the budget hearing, the District board, by resolution, shall adopt the budget as finally approved by the board. The budget shall be adopted before October 1 each year. (A.R.S. § 48-6813.)
- 8.6 **District audits and financial reviews**. The District shall have its reports audited in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards and the following:
 - 8.6.1 The District shall have a financial review performed annually. (A.R.S. § 48-253(A)(1).)
 - 8.6.2 The District may select an outside auditor who is a certified public accountant or a representative who is selected by the Board of Supervisors and who is trained as an auditor. (A.R.S. § 48-253(A)(2).)
 - 8.6.3 The District may advertise and use competitive bidding practices to select an agent to perform the audits or financial reviews required by this section. (A.R.S. § 48-253(A)(3).)
 - 8.6.4 If The District that submits a financial statement for the preceding fiscal year that has been attested to by an independent certified public accountant pursuant to section 48-251, it is deemed to have complied with A.R.S. § 48-253 by submitting a copy of the financial statement to the county Treasurer. (A.R.S. § 48-253(B).)
 - 8.6.5 The District shall submit a copy of the completed audit or financial review to the county Treasurer and the Board of Supervisors within two hundred forty (240) days after the close of the District's fiscal year or within one hundred eighty (180) days after a request for a financial review is received by the District. (A.R.S. § 48-253(C).)

9. MISCELLANEOUS

- 9.1 **Records**. The District shall keep the following records, which shall be open to public inspection:
 - 9.1.1 Minutes of all meetings of the District board;

- 9.1.2 All resolutions;
- 9.1.3 Accounts showing all monies received and disbursed;
- 9.1.4 The annual budget;
- 9.1.5 All other records required to be maintained by law. (ARS § 48-6810)
- 9.2 **Annual Reports**. The District shall submit an annual report as prescribed by A.R.S. § 48-251 that contains the following information:
 - 9.2.1 A schedule of the beginning and ending fund balances and all revenues and expenditures for the preceding fiscal year on a form prescribed by the auditor general or the same information contained in a financial statement for the preceding fiscal year that has been attested to by an independent certified public accountant. The schedule or statement shall include all monies, gifts or donations that are received from all sources and that have a value exceeding one hundred dollars.
 - 9.2.2 Legal descriptions of any boundary changes occurring during the preceding fiscal year.
 - 9.2.3 The names, occupations and business telephone numbers of all members of the governing board and officers of the District on the last day of the preceding fiscal year.
 - 9.2.4 The schedule and location of regular meetings of the District governing board.
 - 9.2.5 The location or locations where public notices of meetings are posted pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.02.
 - 9.2.6 The name and title of the person or persons completing the reporting requirements pursuant to this subsection.
 - 9.2.7 A copy of any audit or financial review required to be prepared.
- 9.3 **Submittal of Annual Report to Board of Supervisors**. The Clerk or other officer of the District governing board shall submit the report within two hundred forty (240) days of the close of the District's fiscal year to the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors of each county in which the District is located.
- 9.4 **Exemption from Annual Reporting Requirement.** If the District does not provide services or otherwise operate during the entire period covered by the report and notifies the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors in writing of these circumstances within the time for filing the report, it is exempt from the annual report requirement of A.R.S. § 48-251(A).
- 9.5 **Immunity from Civil Liability**. A director of the District is immune from civil liability and not subject to suit directly or by contribution for any act or omission resulting in damage or injury if such person was acting in good faith and within the scope of his or her official capacity, unless the damage or injury was caused by willful and wanton or grossly negligent conduct of such

person. As used in this section "official capacity" means any decision, act or event undertaken by the District in furtherance of the purpose or purposes for which the District was formed or any ancillary or additional purpose authorized by law. (A.R.S. 48-187.)

- 9.6 **Perpetual Succession**. The District has perpetual succession, except that the District may be dissolved as provided in section 48-6819 and, if the District does not have any bonds or other obligations outstanding, shall be dissolved ten (10) years after the date of formation unless the Flagstaff City Council by resolution extends the District by an additional period of ten (10) years. (A.R.S. § 48-6809).
- 9.7. **Dissolution of the District**. The District may be dissolved by the District board by a resolution of the District board, pursuant to A.R.S. § 48-6819, if the following conditions exist: (1) All of the real and personal property owned by the District has been or will be conveyed to a municipality; (2) Either the District has no bonds or obligations or the municipality has assumed all of the obligations of the District.
 - 9.7.1 The District board shall comply with the conditions prescribed by A.R.S. § 48-6819(A) and shall dissolve the District if both of the following occur:
 - 9.7.1.1 The Flagstaff City Council has consented to comply with the conditions prescribed by subsection A and either:
 - 9.7.1.1.1 Dissolution has been approved by a vote of the property owners of the District voting in an election called for that purpose.
 - 9.7.1.1.2 The Flagstaff City Council determines that the District has been inactive for at least five (5) consecutive years and has no future purpose.
 - 9.7.1.2 The District board adopts a resolution dissolving the District and records the resolution in the office of the county recorder.
 - 9.7.2 The District board may call such an election and shall call such an election if requested to do so in a petition signed by ten (10) per cent of the property owners of the District.
 - 9.7.3 The election shall be called and held in the same manner as an assessment levy election, except that the ballot shall contain the words "dissolution, yes" and "dissolution, no".
 - 9.7.4 All property in the District, except federal, state, county and municipal property, remains subject to the lien for the payment of ad valorem taxes levied, and any property subject to a special assessment lien remains subject to the lien notwithstanding dissolution of the District. The District may not be dissolved if any revenue or assessment bonds of the District remain outstanding unless an amount of money sufficient, together with investment income thereon, to make all payments due on the revenue bonds either at maturity or prior redemption has been deposited with a trustee or escrow agent and pledged to the payment and redemption of the bonds. The District may continue to operate after dissolution only as needed to collect money and make payments on any outstanding bonds.

9.7.5 If a proposal for dissolution is approved and the District is an Arizona state retirement system employer before the dissolution, the governing body of the District shall notify the director of the Arizona state retirement system of the dissolution.

10. AMENDMENTS

These Rules of Operation may be amended by the Board from time to time in compliance with State law at a duly noticed public meeting.

11. CONSTRUCTION AND DEFINITIONS

All terms and definitions in these Rules shall conform with applicable terms and definitions in the Arizona Revised Statutes. Any conflict in definitions in these Rules with the Arizona Revised Statutes shall be resolved in favor